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NINTH CIRCUIT, U.S. COURT OF APPEALS

COURT UPHOLDS JURY VERDICT, INCLUDING PUNITIVE DAMAGES, FOR WARRANTLESS ENTRY OF RESIDENCE AND FOR  EXCESSIVE FORCE  

Frunz v. City of Tacoma, ___ F.3d ___ (9th Cir. 2006) (Filed Nov. 13, 2006)  

Facts and Proceedings below:  (Excerpted from 9th Circuit opinion)  

The facts are remarkable.  Plaintiff, Susan Frunz, and her two guests were in Frunz's home in Tacoma, Washington, when police surrounded the house, broke down the back door and entered.  The police had no warrant and had not announced their presence.  Frunz first became aware of them when an officer accosted her in the kitchen and pointed his gun, bringing the barrel within two inches of her forehead.  The police ordered or slammed the occupants to the floor and cuffed their hands behind their backs – Frunz for about an hour, until she proved to their satisfaction that she owned the house, at which time they said “never mind” and left.  

As the officers doubtless knew, physical entry into the home is the “chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed.”  To safeguard the home, we normally require a warrant before the police may enter.  “The right of privacy was deemed too precious to entrust to the discretion of those whose job is the detection of crime and the arrest of criminals·. . . . And so the Constitution requires a magistrate to pass on the desires of the police before they violate the privacy of the home.”  What extraordinary circumstances justified sundering the privacy and protection of Frunz's home without a warrant?  

Earlier that afternoon, one Clinton Staples called 911 and reported that his neighbor, who was out of town, had asked Staples to keep an eye on his house.  Staples had observed “Susan,” the neighbor's ex-wife, arrive in a gray Toyota with Washington license plate 928 EKR; she was in the house and the car was parked out front.  Officers [A] and [B] arrived a few minutes later and checked the house for signs of break-in.  They then knocked at the front door and got no answer.  Before leaving, the police told Staples to call back if he saw further evidence that the house was occupied.  

About half an hour later, Staples again called 911 to report that Susan was “now inside the house” and had just answered the door to a visitor.  Staples also mentioned that Frunz was subject to a restraining order which prohibited her from being at that location.  In fact, Frunz had been ceded the house during the divorce proceedings.  And, while she was restrained from going to her ex-husband's residence, her ex had moved to California.  Frunz had been living in the house for the better part of a week.  

[Officers A and B], joined by other officers (including Sergeant [C]) arrived at the scene forty minutes later.  They surrounded the house and, without further investigation or observation, entered and subdued the occupants as described above.  The two guests were able to prove their identity and were found to have no outstanding warrants.  They were uncuffed and ordered to leave.  The officers left Frunz in handcuffs because she was unable to direct them to her picture ID or to paperwork showing that she owned the house.  Frunz testified that she was unable to do so because she was “terrified,” and because Officer [B] kept threatening her and telling her to “shut up.”  

She was released only after the officers were able to reach her divorce lawyer, who confirmed that Frunz owned the house.  

Frunz sued [officers A, B and C] under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, claiming constitutional violations for unlawful entry and search of her home, and for use of excessive force by [officer A]  The jury found against all defendants on all counts, and awarded $27,000 in compensatory damages and $111,000 in punitive damages.  

ISSUE AND RULING:  Is there substantial evidence supporting the jury verdict that the City of Tacoma officers acted unreasonably and with excessive force?  (ANSWER:  Yes)  

Result:  Affirmance of U.S. District Court judgment on jury verdict for Susan Frunz.  

ANALYSIS:  (Excerpted from 9th Circuit opinion)  

The officers appeal, claiming the verdict is not supported by the evidence and that they are, in any event, entitled to qualified immunity.  The nub of their argument is that their warrantless entry was justified – or that they could reasonably have thought it justified – by a burglary in progress.  And, having determined that they needed to enter the house in order to catch the suspected felons red-handed, they were entitled to break down the door, draw their weapons, handcuff the occupants and conduct a protective sweep of the house.  

Not so.  While the information provided by the neighbor suggested that unauthorized people may be in the house, it also made clear that this was not a break-in by strangers.  Staples identified one of the occupants as the neighbor's ex-wife, describing her by first name, race and approximate age.  The officers confirmed that there had been no break-in when they inspected the property during their first visit, and nothing had changed when the officers stormed the home an hour and a half later.  During this first visit to the property, the officers did not draw their weapons, did not call for back-up and did not break down the door.  Quite reasonably, they knocked and sought to have a conversation with whoever was inside.  

Nothing at all had changed when the vigilant Mr. Staples made his second call.  (He did provide new information about the restraining order, but this makes no difference, for reasons we explain below.)  If the officers thought it prudent to knock on the door the first time, they had no possible justification for breaking down the door and drawing their weapons the second time.  

The officers point to the exigency of the situation, but there was none.  Normally, when officers suspect a burglary in progress, they have no idea who might be inside and may reasonably assume that the suspects will, if confronted, flee or offer armed resistance.  In such exigent circumstances, the police are entitled to enter immediately, using all appropriate force.  But it was clear from the information available to the officers here that they were dealing, at worst, with some sort of spousal property dispute.  Even if it was technically a burglary – and it's far from clear that the officers had probable cause to suspect this – it did not present the same risk of confrontation or flight as a break-in by strangers.  The fact that the suspected intruder had a personal relationship with the person thought to own the house raised the possibility that she was there with his permission or had gained possession as a result of the legal proceedings between them.  The officers also knew that Staples had watched Frunz drive up to the house, park out front and open the door to a visitor.  These signs of open and lawful occupancy made it far less likely that what was going on was a burglary and materially diminished the risk of violent confrontation.  Staples, moreover, not only identified Frunz by name, sex, race and age, but also gave the description and license plate number of her car.  Had she managed to flee the 900-square-foot house that was by then surrounded by at least five police officers, she could easily have been found by contacting her ex-husband or her divorce lawyer, or by tracking her car registration.  The fact that it took the police forty minutes to respond to Staples's second call confirms the absence of exigency.  The delay was no doubt caused by the low priority the communications officer assigned to the call by coding it as a “security check” rather than a “burglary in progress.”  

The only new fact the police knew at the time of the second call that they hadn't known the first time was that Frunz might be subject to a restraining order.  But the officers in their testimony and their counsel in summation took the position that the restraining order “ha[s] no relevance to this case at all.”  And with good reason: The officers never looked at the restraining order, as they were clearly required to do, if they wished to rely on it.  Beier v. City of Lewiston, 354 F.3d 1058 (9th Cir.2004).  Defendants' entire case at trial was built on the theory that they were facing an emergency so that they had no time to obtain a warrant or conduct further investigation-indeed, that they had no choice but immediately to break into Frunz's home unannounced, guns in hand, and shackle the occupants.  

There was, in fact, much else the officers could have done.  They could have questioned the neighbor as to his last contact with the husband, in which case they may have learned that the husband had moved out of the house and was living in another state.  They could have tried to get a phone number for the husband and asked him whether his ex-wife was authorized to be in the house.  They could have tried to track down the restraining order.  They could have checked to see if the grey Toyota was still in front of the house and run a check of the license plate.  They could have asked the neighbor for Susan's last name and checked for outstanding warrants or any other indication that she might be armed and dangerous.  They could have knocked at the door, as they had done just an hour and a half earlier, and politely asked the occupants whether they were entitled to be there.  Most importantly, reasonable officers would have tried to obtain a warrant – a telephone warrant if they believed it was urgent-and monitored the house to see if anyone went in or out.  Bursting through the back door unannounced with guns drawn and handcuffing the occupants – the owner for a full hour – was neither necessary nor reasonable in these circumstances.  No reasonable officer familiar with the law of searches and seizures could have thought otherwise.  

Defendants rely on Murdoch v. Stout, 54 F.3d 1437 (9th Cir. 1995) but that case provides them no help.  The only similarity between the two cases is that both plaintiffs owned houses where police entered without a warrant.  In Murdock, however, unlike our case, “[t]he facts known to the police officers indicated that a resident was not responding when the circumstances inside the house strongly suggested that a resident should have been present.”  The police thus had reason to believe that “a resident in the house might have been in danger or injured.”  Murdoch is also distinguishable because the officers caused no property damage on entry, and the majority believed (wrongly it turns out, see LaLonde v. County of Riverside, 204 F.3d 947 (9th Cir.2000)) May 00 LED:12 that they therefore needed to show only a “mild exigency” to justify the entry.  Murdoch.  We have found no authority even remotely supporting the notion that officers confronted with the situation here were entitled to ignore the constitutional requirement of a warrant and probable cause, or to conduct themselves as the jury must have found they did once they were inside the house.  No reasonable lawyer would have advised the defendants otherwise.  

In short, we must ask: Why is this case here?  There may have been some justification for going to trial because there were disputed questions of fact about how the officers behaved during the course of the intrusion into Frunz's house.  But a jury made up of seven members of the community heard the evidence and unanimously ruled in Frunz's favor.  By not only finding defendants liable, but also imposing punitive damages, the jury determined that the officers acted in reckless or malicious disregard of plaintiff's constitutional rights.  Only the most misguided optimism would cause defendants, and those who are paying for their defense, to appeal the verdict under these circumstances.  Surely, the citizens of Tacoma would not want to be treated in their own homes the way the jury found officers [A, B and C] treated Frunz and her guests.  A prompt payment of the verdict, accompanied by a letter of apology from the city fathers and mothers, might have been a more appropriate response to the jury's collective wisdom.  [Court’s footnote:  Defendants and their counsel shall show cause within 14 days why they should not be assessed double costs and attorney's fees for filing a frivolous appeal.  Fed. R.App. P. 38.]  

[Some citations and footnotes omitted]

*********************

BRIEF NOTES FROM THE NINTH CIRCUIT, U.S. COURT OF APPEALS

(1)
INMATES’ EXHIBITIONIST MASTURBATING AND OTHER BEHAVIOR RESULTS IN SEXUALLY HOSTILE ENVIRONMENT FOR WHICH CALIFORNIA CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTION IS RESPONSIBLE – In Deanna Freitag v. Ayers, 468 F.3d 528 (9th Cir. 2006) (Filed Sept. 29, 2006), the U.S. Court of Appeals rejects an argument by the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR), among other arguments, that the CDCR cannot be held responsible for sexually harassing conduct of prison inmates.

Deanna Freitag, a former correctional officer in the CDCR’s Secure Housing Unit at the Pelican Bay prison, alleged that the CDCR and Pelican Bay staff were delinquent in addressing the sexually hostile environment created by prison inmates  - -  particularly in confronting the pervasive practice at Pelican Bay of inmate exhibitionist masturbation directed at female officers - -   and that she was retaliated against and ultimately terminated due to her repeated complaints regarding the problem.  A jury agreed, finding, among other things, that the CDCR maintained a hostile work environment and retaliated against Freitag in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.

In its ruling against the CDCR, the Ninth Circuit addresses the CDCR's contention that an entity operating a prison cannot, as a matter of law, be liable under Title VII for maintaining a hostile work environment where the hostility is caused by inmate misconduct.  The Ninth Circuit decision says that this contention is unsupported by the entire weight of case authority in the Ninth Circuit and other federal circuit courts, and the Court is therefore compelled to reject the institution’s theory.  

In the Ninth Circuit, the Freitag Court explains, employers are liable for harassing conduct by non-employees "where the employer either ratifies or acquiesces in the harassment by not taking immediate and/ or corrective actions when it knew or should have known of the conduct."  In recognizing that employers may be liable for third-party conduct, the Ninth Circuit, along with several other circuits, has relied in part upon a regulation of the Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) that provides that employers may be held liable for the acts of non-employees where the employer "knows or should have known of the conduct and fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action." 29 C.F.R. § 1604.11(e).  This theory of liability is grounded not in the harassing act itself - i.e., inmate misconduct - but rather in the employer's "negligence and ratification" of the harassment through its failure to take appropriate and reasonable responsive action.  

The Ninth Circuit thus holds in Freitag that CDCR is not, by simple virtue of its status as a correctional institution, immune under Title VII from a legal obligation to take such measures and to protect its employees to the extent possible from inmate sexual abuse.

Result:  Affirmance of U.S. District Court judgment on jury verdict in favor of the former female correctional officer on hostile work environment and retaliation grounds.  

(2)
FACTS OF TRAFFIC VIOLATOR’S 1) GANG AFFILIATION AND 2) PRIOR PRISON SENTENCE FOR FIREARM CRIME DID NOT GIVE OFFICERS REASONABLE SUSPICION OF CRIME PER TERRY V. OHIO THAT WOULD JUSTIFY EXPANDING QUESTIONING BEYOND INITIAL PURPOSE OF TRAFFIC STOP – In U.S. v. Mendez, 467 F.3d 1162 (9th Cir. 2006) (Filed Oct. 30, 2006), the federal Court of Appeals rules 2-1 that officers were not justified in expanding a traffic stop for a license plate violation into a criminal investigation into whether Mr. Mendez was committing a felon-with-a-firearm violation.  

The majority opinion authored by Judge Reinhardt acknowledges that the officers who stopped Mendez for a license plate violation lawfully learned after making the stop that Mendez was a member of a violent gang, the Latin Kings, and that Mendez had previously been in prison for a gun crime.  The majority opinion concludes: 1) that this information did not provide reasonable suspicion under the Fourth Amendment precedent of Terry v. Ohio that Mendez presently had a firearm in his car; and 2) therefore, the officers should not have expanded the traffic stop investigation into a criminal investigation by asking Mendez if he had a gun in the car and then searching for and seizing that gun form the driver’s side armrest.  

The majority opinion also concludes that, by not making an officer-safety argument in briefing, the U.S. Attorney’s Office waived any argument that the officers were justified in asking about the gun as an officer-safety measure.  

Judge Tallman writes a strongly worded dissent arguing that the U.S. Attorney’s Office did not waive argument on the office-safety issue, and that the officers were well justified by officer-safety concerns in pursuing their inquiry as to whether Mendez had a gun in his car.  

Result:  Reversal of U.S. District Court conviction of Lionel Mendez.  

LED  EDITORIAL COMMENT:  Judge Tallman’s dissent is persuasive to us on the issue of whether the officers were objectively justified by officer-safety concerns in inquiring whether Mendez had a gun in his car.  Officers should make certain their reports reflect their objective officer-safety justification in these circumstances, and we would hope that prosecutors would pursue the officer-safety theory in future cases raising similar issues.  

*********************

brief notes from the Washington state Supreme Court

(1)
IN CHILD MOLESTATION PROSECUTION, CHILD WITNESS HELD TO HAVE BEEN AVAILABLE FOR CRAWFORD CONFRONTATION CLAUSE PURPOSES – In State v. Price, ___ Wn.2d __ , 2006 WL 3333540 (2006), a 6-3 majority of the Washington Supreme Court rejects a defendant’s confrontation clause challenge to one of his four convictions for first degree child molestation.  

The Supreme Court majority opinion describes as follows the factual and procedural background as well as the Supreme Court’s ruling:  

Charles Price was convicted of four counts of first degree child molestation.  The single count at issue [in defendant Price’s appeal] involved R .T., who was four years old when the molestation occurred and six years old at the time of trial.  R.T. disclosed the sexual abuse to her mother and then to a detective, both of whom testified about R.T .'s disclosures at trial.  In addition, an audiotape of the detective's interview with R.T. was admitted and played to the jury.  

At trial [after R.T. previously had testified in some detail to the molestation event in a child hearsay hearing], R.T. indicated that she could not remember the relevant events or her disclosures to her mother and the detective.  Relying on Crawford v. Washington, [541 U.S. 36 (2004) May 04 LED:20] Price argues that R.T.'s inability to remember rendered her unavailable for purposes of the confrontation clause, and thus, admission of her prior statements was improper because Price had no prior opportunity to cross-examine R.T. about them.  We conclude that the questions the prosecutor asked on direct examination and R.T.'s answers constitute sufficient testimony to satisfy the confrontation clause.  Because R.T. was available and testified at trial, Crawford is not implicated.  We affirm the Court of Appeals.  

Justice Gerry Alexander dissents, joined by Justices Charles Johnson and Tom Chambers.  

Result:  Affirmance of Thurston County Superior Court convictions of Charles J. Price for child molestation in the first degree (four counts).  

(2)
ASSOCIATION CONTRACTING TO USE CITY CONVENTION CENTER FOR GUN SHOW LOSES CHALLENGE TO RESTRICTIONS PLACED ON SHOW – In Pacific Northwest Shooting Park v. City of Sequim, ___ Wn.2d ___, 144 P.3d 276 (2006), the Washington Supreme Court votes 6-3 to reject a challenge by an association that objected to conditions that the City of Sequim – whose convention center was to be used – placed on the show through restrictions in the agreement for use of the convention center.  

The contested restrictions placed by the City’s chief of police were as follows:  

The conditions required that (1) only dealers could “dispose of” handguns and then only to state residents, (2) only dealers could purchase or acquire firearms from unlicensed individuals, and (3) unlicensed dealers could not sell firearms at all.  

Among the questions in the case was whether these restrictions violated the State statutory preemption provisions of RCW 9.41.290 and RCW 9.41.300(2)(b)(ii).  RCW 9.41.290 provides:  

The state of Washington hereby fully occupies and preempts the entire field of firearms regulation within the boundaries of the state, including the registration, licensing, possession, purchase, sale, acquisition, transfer, discharge, and transportation of firearms, or any other element relating to firearms or parts thereof, including ammunition and reloader components.  Cities, towns, and counties or other municipalities may enact only those laws and ordinances relating to firearms that are specifically authorized by state law, as in RCW 9.41.300, and are consistent with this chapter.  Such local ordinances shall have the same penalty as provided for by state law.  Local laws and ordinances that are inconsistent with, more restrictive than, or exceed the requirements of state law shall not be enacted and are preempted and repealed, regardless of the nature of the code, charter, or home rule status of such city, town, county, or municipality.  

(Emphasis added.)

RCW 9.41.300(2) provides:

Cities, towns, counties, and other municipalities may b)(ii) provides:  

(2) enact laws and ordinances:  

. . . 

(b) Restricting the possession of firearms in any stadium or convention center, operated by a city, town, county, or other municipality, except that such restrictions shall not apply to:  

. . . 

(ii) Any showing, demonstration, or lecture involving the exhibition of firearms.  

(Emphasis added.)

The majority opinion concludes after extended analysis that the language and purpose of the quoted statutory language permits the restrictions.  Among other things, the majority opinion explains that in Cherry v. Seattle, 116 Wn.2d 794 (1991), the Supreme Court upheld public employer restrictions on firearm possession in the  workplace (as to bus drivers).  The PNSP case majority then concludes by rejecting the association’s preemption argument under the following analysis:  

The preemption clause does not prohibit a private property owner from imposing conditions on the sale of firearms on his or her property.  RCW 9.41.290.  Applying our reasoning in Cherry, it follows that a municipal property owner like a private property owner may impose conditions related to firearms for the use of its property in order to protect its property interests.  For the same reason that a municipal employer may enact policies regarding possession of firearms in the workplace because a private employer may do so, a municipal property owner should be allowed to impose conditions related to sales of firearms on its property if a private property owner may impose them.  The critical point is that the conditions the city imposed related to a permit for private use of its property.  They were not laws or regulations of application to the general public.  

We find that the city did not violate either RCW 9.41.290 or .300.  

Justices Richard Sanders, James Johnson and Tom Chambers dissent.  

Result:  Affirmance of unpublished Court of Appeals decision that affirmed the Clallam County Superior Court summary judgment order for the City of Sequim.  

LED EDITORIAL COMMENT:  We think that the analysis by the majority in this case is limited to circumstances where a gun show is to be conducted on governmental property.  

*********************

Washington STATE Court of Appeals

SCOPE OF TERRY FRISK IS RESTRICTED – CIGARETTE PACK HELD NOT TO BE LIKELY CONTAINER OF WEAPON; OFFICER IS QUITE A BIT OFF THE MARK IN HIS TESTIMONY ABOUT THE PURPOSE OF CONDUCTING A FRISK  
State v. Horton, ___ Wn. App. ___, 2006 WL 3316850 (Div. III, 2006)  

Facts:  (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)  

A sheriff's deputy was patrolling a remote area near Kennewick, Washington, after midnight on a February night.  He saw a car travel at 10 to 15 miles per hour in a 50-mile-per-hour zone and drifting over the center line.  He stopped the car and approached.  A woman was driving, and the appellant, Kris A. Horton, was the passenger.  

The deputy approached the car with his flashlight.  He could see into the back seat.  He saw a five-gallon container, a can of liquid butane, two bottles of Drano, and several lithium batteries.  He recognized these as items commonly used in the manufacture of methamphetamine.  The deputy immediately switched his focus from bad driving to controlled substances violations.  

The driver appeared dazed and seemed to drift off while the deputy was talking to her.  The deputy arrested her and obtained a warrant by telephone to search the car.  In addition to the items in plain view, this search would produce a slab of dry ice, mineral oil, a hydrochloric acid generator, aluminum foil, butane fluid, and a heat source.  

The deputy ordered Mr. Horton out of the car and patted him down before calling in his request for a warrant.  The deputy later testified at trial that he was searching Mr. Horton for evidence of illegal activity as well as for weapons.  

The deputy found an open cigarette pack in Mr. Horton's jacket pocket.  He searched inside the cigarette pack and found a small baggie of white powder.  This field tested positive for methamphetamine.  The deputy arrested Mr. Horton for possession and continued to search incident to the arrest.  He found a pill bottle in another pocket of the jacket.  The white powder in the bottle field-tested positive for ephedrine.  The State crime lab confirmed these field results.  Mr. Horton was also carrying a digital scale.  

Proceedings below:  

Horton’s defense counsel moved to suppress on the sole ground of “pretext stop” and did not challenge the scope of the Terry v. Ohio weapons frisk.  The trial court denied the suppression motion.  Horton was convicted of simple possession of methamphetamine and possession of methamphetamine with intent to manufacture.  

ISSUE AND RULING:  Did Horton receive insufficient assistance of counsel because a suppression motion challenging the scope of the Terry weapons frisk would have been successful?  (ANSWER:  Yes)  

ANALYSIS:  Under the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, if a defendant’s attorney fails to make a Fourth Amendment (or other constitutional) suppression motion where such a motion would have been successful, the appellate court must reverse the conviction.  The Court of Appeals holds under the following analysis that a suppression motion at trial court challenging the scope of the Terry weapons frisk would have been successful:  

A reasonable concern for officer safety is a sufficient independent ground to pat down a passenger.  Terry uses the term “armed and presently dangerous.”  Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); State v. Horrace, 144 Wn.2d 386 (2001) Oct 01 LED:05.  But the officer need not be convinced the person is in fact armed and dangerous; it is sufficient that he or she can “ ‘articulate an objective rationale’ “ to support a frisk.  The officer must be able to point to particular facts from which we can reasonably infer legitimate safety concerns.  The rationale must be based on the particular circumstances at the scene.  

This investigation ceased to be a traffic stop before the deputy patted down Mr. Horton.  The deputy saw physical evidence of a mobile methamphetamine lab as soon as he approached the car.  This was more than sufficient articulable grounds for an investigative stop.  It amounted to probable cause to arrest both occupants of the car.  The deputy was justified in securing the scene by patting both suspects down for weapons.  

But, Mr. Horton contends, a Terry weapons frisk means no more than a light pat-down of outer clothing for items that feel like they could be weapons.  Here, the deputy removed a cigarette pack and looked inside.  The State responds that a cigarette pack could contain razor blades or other small objects that conceivably could be used as weapons.  The State argues that Terry permits a search thorough enough to find concealed blades, stick pins, and bent paper clips.  

Incident to a Terry investigative stop, an officer may perform a superficial pat down of the outer clothing for weapons, if the particular circumstances present grounds for concern for officer safety.  The protective search must be justified in scope throughout the duration of the search.  

The officer may withdraw an object if it feels like it might be a weapon.  But if the officer withdraws a cigarette pack under this rationale, the justification for the intrusion ends once he determines it is not a weapon.  The court reached the same conclusion in State v. Allen, where the contents of a wallet were suppressed.  State v. Allen, 93 Wn.2d 170 (1980).  

If we accept the State's argument, the scope of a Terry frisk is essentially unlimited, since the tiniest object can conceivably be used offensively.  We find no authority for this proposition.  And the State directs us to none.  Only objects that feel like they could be used as weapons in a superficial pat down of the outer clothing may be removed and examined under Terry.  

Nothing in the particular circumstances here suggested that Mr. Horton's weapon of choice was likely to be a razor blade or paper clip.  And the deputy could certainly have protected himself (the object of a Terry search) from miniature weapons by tossing the pack out of reach.  

Significantly, the deputy testified that he routinely searches people for contraband as well as weapons: “You're going to search them for weapons and along with other things that may be harmful or that may be illegal.”  This, of course, is not the legitimate scope of a Terry frisk.  State v. Day, 130 Wn. App. 622 (Div. III, 2005) March 06 LED:10, review granted, 143 Wn.2d 830 (Oct. 12, 2006).  The inside of the cigarette pack was, then, beyond the lawful scope of Terry.  

The State argues that the deputy here did not proceed under articulable suspicion or Terry.  The deputy had probable cause to believe Mr. Horton was manufacturing methamphetamine and to arrest him immediately based on the mobile lab in the back seat.  And probable cause trumps articulable suspicion.  Therefore, the Terry scope limitations did not apply.  State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564 (2003).  

But probable cause to arrest was not enough to justify a search incident to arrest.  O’Neill.  An actual arrest must precede a search incident to an arrest.  O’Neill.  

Here, the deputy had as much probable cause to arrest Mr. Horton as he did to arrest the driver, based on the methamphetamine manufacturing gear in plain view.  But the deputy did not arrest Mr. Horton.  Instead, he arrested the driver and then telephoned for a vehicle warrant.  He thought he could search Mr. Horton for evidence without either an arrest or a search warrant, based solely on probable cause.  He could not.  The intrusion was not lawful as a search incident to arrest, because the search of the cigarette pack was conducted before Mr. Horton was arrested.  

We therefore hold that defense counsel's failure to move to suppress the evidence discovered in the defective search was both erroneous and prejudicial.  And we reverse the conviction.  

[Some citations omitted]

LED EDITORIAL COMMENT:  

Although we are not familiar with the record in either case, the Division Three Court of Appeals decision in Horton digested immediately above appears to be inconsistent with the decision of the Ninth Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals in the Hartz case digested in the November 2006 LED starting at page 2.  One significant problem with the record in Horton (that the Horton Court tells us about) is that the frisking officer there testified that he frisks to discover evidence (something not allowed in frisking) as well as weapons.  See the bolded paragraph in the excerpted “Analysis” above.  In Hartz, on the other hand, the Ninth Circuit did not report testimony of that sort, and the Hartz Court also noted that the officer testified plausibly as to why he believed an Altoids tin might contain a weapon.

The Division Three decision in Horton is not the last word on this subject (though courts in some other jurisdictions have ruled similarly), and it is arguably not a broad precedent in light of the misguided testimony of the officer about frisking for evidence.  We would hope that officers will continue to do what they reasonably believe to be necessary for safety.  Officers have justification to frisk when they have a reasonable, particularized concern for safety in light of their experience and training and all of the attendant circumstances.  And, for officers who can detail in their reports and can testify honestly and reasonably that their experience and training and all of the attendant circumstances caused them to believe that an Altoids tin or cigarette pack could contain a weapon, then we think those officers should continue to open such containers during frisks and to send on to the prosecutor any contraband that is discovered in such safety checks of those containers.

EVIDENCE HELD SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT CONVICTION FOR INTIMIDATING OFFICER-WITNESS – THREAT HELD TO BE “TRUE THREAT” NOT PROTECTED AS FREE SPEECH UNDER THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION
State v. King, ___ Wn. App. ___, 145 P.3d 1224 (Div. III, 2006)

Facts and Proceedings below:  (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)  

Deputy Sheriff Michael R. McNees arrested Anthony L. King in 2003 for several felonies.  Mr. King became angry on the way to jail and said to Deputy McNees, “I bet your name and address are in the phone book.”  This caused Deputy McNees concern that Mr. King meant to harm him in the future.  

The State charged Mr. King with a number of crimes the exact nature of which is not pertinent to this appeal.  Deputy McNees testified at Mr. King's trial.  From the witness stand, Deputy McNees could see Mr. King mouthing the word, “liar.”  Mr. King became angry after the judge pronounced him guilty on all counts.  He blurted out, “[t]his is bullshit,” and slammed books down on the table.  As he was being led from the courtroom, Mr. King said to Deputy McNees that he hoped he slept well at night.  Deputy McNees assured him he slept fine.  The testimony as to Mr. King's precise next words varies slightly.  But Mr. King agrees he said something like, “I hope you feel good, Batman.”  (Mr. King called Deputy McNees Batman.)  “I'll see you but you won't see me.”  His tone was “sarcastic and threatening.”  Deputy McNees remembered Mr. King's earlier remark about the phone book.  He interpreted the courtroom statement as a serious threat that Mr. King would come after him and that he would not see it coming.  

The State charged Mr. King with threatening a former witness in violation of RCW 9A.72.110(2).  Several eyewitnesses testified for the State.  The defense asked the court to instruct the State's witnesses not to testify that they had perceived Mr. King's words as threatening, because this was an ultimate issue for the jury.  Counsel argued that only Deputy McNees's perception was relevant.  The court granted the motion.  

The State presented the testimony of a corrections officer who had been present in the courtroom during the exchange between Mr. King and Deputy McNees and had written a report about the incident.  Defense counsel elicited from this witness that defendants often make angry comments that are innocuous.  On redirect, the prosecutor asked the corrections officer why, then, he wrote up this particular incident.  He replied it was because he felt there was a threat involved.  The court instructed the jury to disregard this answer but denied Mr. King's motion for a mistrial.  

The jury found Mr. King guilty.  

ISSUE AND RULING:  Was there sufficient evidence of communication of a “true threat” to support defendant’s conviction for intimidating a witness?  (ANSWER:  Yes)  

Result:  Affirmance of Spokane County Superior Court conviction of Anthony Lamar King for intimidating a witness.  

ANALYSIS:  (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)  

An essential element of intimidating a witness is a threat to a former witness because of the witness's role in an official proceeding.  RCW 9A.72.110(2).  A “threat” includes communicating the intent to cause bodily injury in the future.  RCW 9A.72.110(3)(a)(ii), incorporating former RCW 9A.04.110(25).  Mr. King contends that the State failed to show that his statements to Deputy McNees amounted to a true threat.  He also contends that the court failed to give an appropriate instruction on what constitutes a true threat.  

He relies on decisions in prosecutions for felony harassment (RCW 9A.46.020), see, e.g., State v. Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d 36 (2004) Oct 04 LED:05, and therein lies the problem.  He notes, correctly, that the felony harassment statute covers both protected and unprotected speech under a broad range of circumstances.  He contends this means the State must prove a “true threat” to convict him for witness intimidation.  

 . . . 

A criminal statute that prohibits a substantial amount of constitutionally protected free speech violates the First Amendment and is facially overbroad.  Innocent blather and jokes about harming people are protected speech.  Kilburn, 151 Wn.2d at 41.  But true threats are not.  

A statute that criminalizes speech must distinguish, then, between true threats and protected speech such as jokes and mere puffery.  A “true threat” is a statement made in a context in which a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted by a person to whom it is directed as a serious expression of an intent to inflict bodily harm or death.  

Thus, it is the context that makes a threat “true” or serious.  The test is an objective one, based on the speaker.  A “true” threat exists if the speaker would reasonably foresee under the circumstances that the listener would believe he or she will be subject to physical violence.  

But the crime of felony harassment and the crime of witness intimidation are different.  The statute prohibiting harassment covers a virtually limitless range of utterances and contexts, any of which might be protected.  Both the speech and context of witness intimidation, by contrast, are limited by the language of the statute.  The statute requires the State to prove that the defendant communicated an intent to harm a person who has appeared, presumably against him, in a legal proceeding.  A statute is overbroad only if it prohibits constitutionally protected conduct to a substantial degree.  There is, then, no constitutionally protected speech prohibited by a statute that outlaws solely threats to witnesses.  

The defendant in the felony harassment prosecution in Kilburn was a high school student who smiled and said he was going to bring a gun to school the next day and shoot everybody, starting with the girl he was talking to.  The girl did not feel scared.  The boy did not seem mean or scary.  And she knew of no reason why he might wish to harm her.  Only later did it occur to her that he might be serious.  The trial court found Mr. Kilburn guilty of felony harassment.  The Supreme Court reversed, holding that the statute was overbroad under the First Amendment, unless it was construed to require an inquiry into whether the words were a “true threat.”  

In some contexts, however, any “ ‘apparently serious threat may cause the mischief or evil toward which the statute was in part directed.’ “  Laws prohibiting threats of violence focus on fear and “ ‘the disruption that fear engenders,’ “ as well as the possibility that the threatened violence will occur.  

Here, the evidence supports that Mr. King was convicted of multiple felonies with the help of Deputy McNees's testimony.  And what he angrily communicated to Deputy McNees immediately after the court found him guilty was an intent to inflict bodily harm on the deputy or someone close to the deputy.  Unlike felony harassment, proof of the minimum facts required to show witness intimidation, then, establishes a context that is inherently threatening.  And, moreover, Mr. King had directed sinister remarks at Deputy McNees before.  Unlike the girl in Kilburn, and felony harassment generally, a former adverse witness always knows a reason why the defendant might wish him harm.  

Mr. King also argues that words are not threatening unless the precise manner of accomplishing the threatened harm is specified.  That is not correct.  Even vague hints of future harm are intrinsically frightening.  Arguably, a veiled threat is scarier than a specific one.  

[Some citations omitted]

EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT CONVICTION FOR MANUFACTURING METHAMPHETAMINE
State v. Forrester, ___ Wn. App. ___, 143 P.3d 880 (Div. II, 2006)  

Facts and Proceedings below:  (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)  

Deborah Forrester lived in a mobile home she rented from Guy and Kamiele Anderson. Forrester's father, Clarence Hankins, originally paid the rent but stopped paying when Kevin Clothier moved in with Forrester.  Shortly after Clothier moved in, he left to live with Hankins after a fight with Forrester.  Because nobody was paying the rent, the Andersons obtained a court order evicting Clothier and Forrester.  

During the week before Anderson obtained the eviction order, Hankins had visited his daughter five or six times and had not noticed a chemical smell or unusual activity at the property.  And when Hankins visited the house on the day Forrester and Clothier planned to move out, he smelled “[n]othing unusual,” but he saw a man and woman at the house.  He had seen the woman sneak in and out of the property before.  Hankins “was . . . strict about [Forrester] having people [at the house]” because Forrester previously used drugs and he did not want her around people who took drugs.  

Later the same day, Guy Anderson went to the rental to get the house key and inspect the residence.  When Guy arrived, Clothier met him in the front yard and gave him the house key.  Guy entered the house through the back door.  

Forrester testified that as she was moving from the rental, Guy arrived, demanded the key and pushed his way through the door.  She said he walked down the hallway and kicked in a bedroom door where Forrester's friend had stayed the night.  Guy said that he saw a triple beam scale and accused her of manufacturing methamphetamine, an accusation she denied.  

At trial, Guy testified that “as [he] entered the back door, [his] eyes burnt from a chemical of some sort that was in the air.”  He saw hoses running out the back door, scales, a pressure cooker, and hoses and needles lying around in a bedroom.  Guy knew that Clothier and Forrester had a history of manufacturing methamphetamine. Guy told Clothier that he was calling 911 because he thought the two had a drug lab in the house.  

Guy testified that when he called 911, Clothier panicked and “gathered up the pressure cooker with the hoses,” put them in his truck and left.  Guy saw a man with a duffle bag come out of a bedroom, leave the house, and drive away.  He also saw a woman come out of another room and run away from the house.  

Guy said that Forrester stayed at the house and he heard her breaking up Pyrex glass and glass tubing.  Forrester denied breaking any glass.  Guy also said that before the police arrived, he heard Forrester flush the toilet several times.  

When Thurston County Sheriff's Deputy Chris Ivanovich arrived, Forrester let him and Guy into the house and showed them around.  Ivanovich said that his eyes did not burn and that he did not smell anything unusual when he entered the home.  Guy testified that as they walked through the trailer, he and the officer saw pipes, scales, used syringes, drugs, and other paraphernalia.  They also saw broken glass, which Forrester explained came from a coffee pot and a vase that she had dropped earlier.  

Ivanovich testified that he saw different containers with some sort of powder and “a number of capsules that looked to . . .·be prescription capsules and tablets.”  On cross-examination, Guy and Ivanovich both admitted that they did not see any chemicals, solvents, or lye inside the home.  Nonetheless, Ivanovich called for specially trained officers to investigate a possible methamphetamine laboratory.  

The investigation team searched the house, a metal shed, and a brown well house on the property.  Deputies found methylethyl ketone, a clear liquid, in the well house, several sets of rubber gloves in a trash pile, and pieces of a broken condenser tube near the trash pile outside the trailer.  When the team searched the metal shed, they found several containers holding different types of liquids, containers with red residue on them, and iodine.  Investigators also found muriatic acid, empty peroxide containers, rubber gloves, a gas can with red residue on the cap, paint thinner, a makeshift funnel, and a propane tank with a new, slightly corroded valve.  

In the trailer's dining room, the team found a rubber band tourniquet, rubber gloves, a container of Betadine, liquid iodine, plastic tubing, and a bag containing syringes and drug paraphernalia.  

On the back porch, they found plastic tubing and a metal container of Coleman fuel.  Both are commonly used in manufacturing methamphetamine.  They also found a broken condenser tube, a triple beam scale, and a coffee pot containing pseudoephedrine.  

In the kitchen, deputies found a makeshift funnel, a plastic container with white crystal residue, and used Pyrex plates. In the bathroom, deputies found a container of acetone, several containers of unknown liquids, a pickle jar with a liquid containing pseudoephedrine, and a white pill on the floor.  One deputy testified that “[t]he toilet appeared to have numerous amounts of liquids and items dumped into it” and had visible white residue in it.  

In one of the bedrooms, the investigators found hose clamps, Teflon tape, a black bag containing syringes, containers of white powder residue, containers of red powder, a digital scale, small plastic baggies, some “reddish” liquid suspected to be methamphetamine, and a milk jug cap with electrical tape stuck to it.  The white powder residue tested positive for pseudoephedrine.  The red powder tested positive for red phosphorous.  Further, one of the investigators testified that, in his experience, people often attached hoses to milk jugs and used them to generate hydrochloric acid gas to crystallize the methamphetamine.  

In the master bedroom, investigators found a smoking device, a loaded syringe, a digital scale, a tin container full of syringes, and other drug paraphernalia.  In the laundry room, the deputies found a pair of safety glasses with reddish stains all over them, a plastic tube with a metal end, and a hotplate.  

A state patrol forensic scientist testified that she detected evidence of methamphetamine manufacture in various samples from the residence.  

The State charged Forrester with unlawful manufacture of methamphetamine, a violation of former RCW 69.50.401(a)(1)(ii).  The State joined Clothier as a co-defendant.  A jury convicted Forrester on the manufacture charge and found Clothier not guilty.  

ISSUE AND RULING:  Is there sufficient evidence in the record to support defendant’s conviction for manufacturing methamphetamine under the constitution’s beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard?  ANSWER:  Yes)  

Result:  Affirmance of Thurston County Superior Court conviction of Deborah Dianne Forrester for manufacturing methamphetamine.  

ANALYSIS:  (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)  

Guy testified that “as [he] entered the back door, [his] eyes burnt from a chemical of some sort that was in the air.”  He saw hoses running out the back door, scales, a pressure cooker, and hoses and needles lying around in a bedroom.  Guy heard Forrester breaking glass and repeatedly flushing the toilet immediately after he called 911.  And after he called the police, Clothier panicked and put the pressure cooker and some hoses in his truck and quickly drove away.  Guy also saw pipes, scales, used syringes, drugs, and other paraphernalia when he later walked through the house with the deputy.  

Ivanovich also saw broken glass and different containers with some sort of powder and “a number of capsules that looked to . . . be prescription capsules and tablets.  

Thurston County Sheriff's Deputy Mancillas testified that the methamphetamine lab processing team found methylethyl ketone and an unknown clear liquid in the well house, and found several sets of rubber gloves in a trash pile nearby.  They also found pieces of a broken condenser tube outside the trailer.  The team also searched a shed and found numerous containers with different liquids, containers with red residue all over them, iodine, muriatic acid, empty hydrogen peroxide containers, a gas can with red residue on the cap, paint thinner, makeshift funnels, and a propane tank with a slightly corroded valve.  

Inside the house, investigators found a tourniquet, rubber gloves, Betadine, liquid iodine, plastic tubing that “obviously had something corrosive float through it,” syringes, Coleman fuel, scales, containers with liquids that tested positive for pseudoephedrine, hose clamps, Teflon tape, small plastic baggies, acetone, containers with “reddish” liquid, red powder that tested positive for red phosphorous, smoking devices, safety glasses with reddish stains all over them, plastic tubing, Pyrex plates, makeshift funnels, containers with white powder and residue, and a hotplate.  Deputy Mancillas also testified that the toilet “appeared to have numerous amounts of liquids and items dumped into it” and had a visible white residue in it.  

The State's expert witness, state patrol forensic scientist Tami Kee, testified that pressure cookers are commonly used in manufacturing methamphetamine.  She also testified that methylethyl ketone could be used in manufacturing methamphetamine.  Kee also said that plastic gloves, Pyrex cooking plates, acetone, hot plates, Coleman fuel, plastic tubing, propane tanks, muriatic acid, hydrogen peroxide, paint thinner, and glass condenser tubes were all associated with manufacturing methamphetamine.  

Although the deputies never actually found methamphetamine at Forrester's residence, a person need not possess the final product to be guilty of manufacturing a controlled substance.  State v. Keena, 121 Wn. App. 143 (Div. II, 2004) June 05 LED:14.  And “courts have found evidence sufficient to support convictions for manufacturing methamphetamine where the defendants possessed lab equipment and partially processed methamphetamine, but not the final product.”  Further, police found solutions containing pseudoephedrine at Forrester's residence.  And processing pseudoephedrine is a preparatory step to the methamphetamine manufacturing process. State v. Zunker, 112 Wn. App. 130 (2002) Aug 02 LED:23.  

Based on the foregoing evidence, a reasonable juror could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Forrester manufactured methamphetamine.  Accordingly, sufficient evidence supported her conviction for manufacture of methamphetamine.  

[Some citations omitted]

OBJECTIONS BASED ON HEARSAY EVIDENCE RULE AND CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION REJECTED WHERE DRUG BUYER USED AN ACCOMPLICE/AGENT TO PURCHASE ILLEGAL DRUGS FROM UNDERCOVER OFFICER, AND OFFICER LATER TESTIFIED TO WHAT THE DRUG-BUYING ACCOMPLICE/AGENT SAID

State v. Chambers, 134 Wn. App. 853 (Div. II, 2006)

Facts and Proceedings below: (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)

On June 9, 2004, officers from the West Sound Narcotics Enforcement Team (WESTNET) searched a house on Patricia Street in Port Orchard and found and seized methamphetamine.  Detective Jon VanGesen, a member of the WESTNET team performing the search, answered a telephone call at the house.  The caller said that he would soon arrive.  

VanGesen suspected that the caller was coming to buy methamphetamine, so he repackaged some of the seized methamphetamine.  Soon, a van pulled into the driveway and Jeremy Drouin came to the door.  VanGesen asked Drouin whether he “had the money.”  Drouin replied that he “had the money,” then asked how much “it was.”  VanGesen said a “teener” cost $80, and Drouin walked back to the van.  

Drouin spoke with Chambers, who sat in the van's driver seat with the window down.  VanGesen then saw Chambers give Drouin money.  Drouin returned to the front door, handed VanGesen the money, and VanGesen gave Drouin the methamphetamine.  The police then arrested Drouin and Chambers.  

Police Detective Dale Schuster, also a WESTNET member participating in the search, read Chambers his Miranda rights.  Chambers waived his rights and agreed to speak with the police.  Schuster interviewed Chambers and learned that Chambers had a disability that confined him to a wheelchair.  

Chambers told Schuster that he withdrew $200 from his bank account, then went to Drouin's house to ask Drouin to help him pump gas for his van and purchase a “teener” of methamphetamine.  Drouin and Chambers went to the Patricia Street house, but had not called ahead.  Chambers said that he had not previously purchased methamphetamine from that house but that he had driven other purchasers there.  Chambers also admitted that he gave Drouin money to purchase methamphetamine after Drouin returned from talking to VanGesen.  

. . . .

The State charged Chambers with unlawful possession of a controlled substance.  . . .

Before trial, Chambers moved to exclude Drouin's statements to VanGesen, arguing that the statements were inadmissible hearsay.  The State countered that the statements were not hearsay because they were not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.  The State also argued that Chambers and Drouin were coconspirators and that Drouin was acting as Chambers's agent.  

The trial court admitted the statements under ER 801(d)(2). . . .

The jury convicted Chambers as charged.  

ISSUES AND RULINGS:  Did the trial court commit reversible error under the hearsay evidence rules or under the constitutional protection of the right to confront witnesses where the trial court admitted against defendant Chambers the officer’s testimony as to the accomplice-drug-buyer’s (Drouin’s) out-of-court statements?  (ANSWER: No)  

Result:  Affirmance of Kitsap County Superior Court conviction of William Kendall Chambers for unlawful possession of methamphetamine.  

ANALYSIS:  (Excerpted from Court of Appeals opinion)

Chambers . . . argues that we should reverse his conviction because the trial court admitted Drouin's statements into evidence via VanGesen's testimony, even though Drouin did not testify.  His argument has two components.  First, he argues that the trial court violated the Evidence Rules barring hearsay when it admitted Drouin's statements.  Second, he argues that, even if admissible under the Evidence Rules, the statements violate his right to confrontation under Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) May 04 LED:20.  

Hearsay
Under the Evidence Rules, the trial court did not err by allowing Drouin's statements into evidence.  Generally, hearsay is not admissible unless it fits within an exception to the general rule.  ER 802. “  ‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.”  ER 801(c).  A statement is not hearsay, however, if “[t]he statement is offered against a party and is . . . a statement by the party's agent or servant acting within the scope of the authority to make the statement for the party.”  ER 801(d)(2)(iv).  The agency exclusion does not require that the person who made the statement be “unavailable,” as defined in the rules.  See ER 801(d)(2); ER 804(a).  

Here, Drouin's statements do not fit within the definition of hearsay because the State did not offer the statements “to prove the truth of the matter asserted.”  ER 801(c).  The State did not offer Drouin's statement that he “had the money” and the question of how much “it was” to prove that Drouin in fact had money or cared about the price.  The State instead offered the statements to prove that a dialogue occurred between Drouin and VanGesen about purchasing drugs.  These statements were therefore not hearsay.  

Additionally, Drouin's statements fall outside the definition of hearsay because they were statements by an agent: (1) Drouin acted as Chamber's agent when he left the van to purchase methamphetamine, (2) Drouin made the statements “within the scope of [his] authority to make a statement” for Chambers, and (3) the State offered Drouin's statements “against a party.”  ER 801(d)(2)(iv).  Under this analysis, it does not matter whether Drouin was “unavailable” under ER 804(a) because unavailability is not required when the statement was not hearsay or when the agency exclusion applies.  

In short, the trial court did not violate the hearsay rules when it admitted Drouin's statements into evidence. The question remains, however, whether the admission of Drouin's statements violated Chambers' right to confront witnesses against him.  

Confrontation Clause
Chambers further argues that admitting Drouin's statements violated his right to confront witnesses against him because Drouin's statements were “testimonial” under Crawford.  We disagree.  

Under the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause, “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right .·.·.·to be confronted with the witnesses against him.”  U.S. Const. amend. VI.  The principal evil at which the Confrontation Clause was directed was the civil-law mode of criminal procedure and, particularly, its use of ex parte examinations as evidence against the accused.  

Under Crawford, admission of a testimonial statement violates a defendant's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness with regard to the statement.  Crawford held that “[w]here testimonial statements are at issue, the only indicium of reliability sufficient to satisfy constitutional demands is the one the Constitution actually prescribes: confrontation.”  

Crawford did not comprehensively define “testimonial,” but it did provide some guidance to lower courts.  At a minimum, the Court announced, “testimonial” includes statements made during police interrogations and prior testimony at a preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or at a formal trial.  In describing testimonial statements, the Court also noted that testimony is typically “[a] solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact.”  Further, the Court offered a non-exclusive list of definitions of the term “testimonial”: (1) ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent, such as affidavits, custodial examinations, and prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-examine; (2) extrajudicial statements contained in formalized testimonial materials, such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions; and (3) statements made under circumstances that would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial.   

The Court also outlined certain types of statements that are not testimonial, like business records or statements in furtherance of a conspiracy.  Crawford cited approvingly to Bourjaily v. United State, a case in which the trial court admitted statements made unwittingly to an FBI informant.   

Although no Washington court has addressed the present issue, the Third Circuit has held that neither Crawford nor the Confrontation Clause bars wiretap evidence or statements made to a confidential informant. United States v. Hendricks, 395 F.3d 173, 181 (3rd Cir. 2005).  In Hendricks, the court ruled that the recorded wiretap conversations neither fell within nor were analogous to any of the specific examples of testimonial statements Crawford mentioned.  Hendricks also said that the recorded conversations did not qualify as “testimonial” under any of the three definitions the Court gave.  “Each of the examples referred to by the Court or the definitions it considered entails a formality to the statement absent from the recorded statements at issue here.”  

Further, Division Three recently held that statements by a coconspirator made during the conspiracy may be admitted without implicating the Confrontation Clause.  State v. Williams, 131 Wn. App. 488, 494 (Div. III, 2006).  

Here, admitting Drouin's [unsuspecting out-of-court] statements to Detective VanGesen did not violate Chambers's Confrontation Clause rights.  

Crawford's few definitions of “testimonial” all contemplate formal statements given to police to help their investigations or formal testimony in a court setting.  Crawford specifically distinguished these formal statements from casual remarks.  Drouin made his statements while he believed that he was completing a drug deal with a drug dealer.  [Detective] VanGesen was not in uniform, did not identify himself as a police officer, and did not even ask Drouin the types of questions that he could use to ascertain Drouin's identity.  An objective witness in this circumstance would not reasonably believe that his statements would later be available for use at a trial.  Drouin's casual interchange with [Detective] VanGesen completely lacked the formality needed to qualify as a “testimonial” statement under Crawford.  

[Some citations omitted]  

*********************

BRIEF NOTE FROM THE Washington STATE Court of Appeals

(1)
SENTENCE PROHIBITING PREDATOR-AGAINST-ELDERLY THIEF FROM WORKING AS CARETAKER FOR ELDERLY OR DISABLED PERSONS UPHELD – In State v. Acrey, ___, Wn. App. ___, 2006 WL 3307426 (Div. I, 2006), the Court of Appeals rejects a convicted thief’s challenge to that part of her sentence that prohibited her form working as a caretaker for elderly or disabled persons.  

The Court of Appeals describes as follows the facts and trial court procedural background:  

As summer waned in 2003, a 43-year-old woman named Sonia Acrey came to visit 71-year-old Samuel Alexander at his home in a senior citizen center.  She introduced herself as Sonia Robinson and claimed she knew Mr. Alexander because they had “partied together” in Canada years before.  Mr. Alexander later said he did not know Acrey, but spoke to her because he did not want to hurt her feelings.  She began regular visits and drove him on errands.  

Gradually Acrey gained Mr. Alexander's trust.  She repeatedly suggested that they marry.  Mr. Alexander finally acquiesced in April 2004.  Despite Acrey's promise that they would live together, Mr. Alexander never moved out of the senior center.  Instead, after the wedding, Acrey stopped visiting Mr. Alexander and commenced transferring his assets into her name and taking out loans in his name.  

Within four months, Mr. Alexander was penniless.  Acrey withdrew more than $130,000 from Mr. Alexander's retirement accounts and incurred more than $83,000 of debt in his name, all without Mr. Alexander's knowledge or permission.  

Acrey pled guilty to one count of first degree theft, five counts of first degree identity theft, and one count of second degree perjury.  The judge imposed a standard range sentence, which did not require supervision, and added the following crime-related prohibition: “Defendant shall not work for or without pay as a caretaker for any elderly or disabled persons, except her mother.”  

The Court of Appeals rejects Acrey’s arguments: 1) that RCW 9.94A.505(8) does not authorize such a sentence; 2) that the prohibition is not justified by the facts of her case; and 3) that the prohibition is unconstitutionally vague.  

Result:  Affirmance of King County Superior Court and sentence of Sonia A. Acrey (with numerous AKAs) for theft, identity theft and perjury.  

(2)
RESIDENT AT MCNEIL ISLAND SPECIAL COMMITMENT CENTER LOSES CHALLENGES: 1) TO STAFF’S WARRANTLESS SEIZURE OF HIS COMPUTER, AND 2) TO HIS CHILD PORN CONVICTION UNDER RCW 9.68A.070 – In State v. Williams, ___ Wn. App. __, 146 P.3d 481 (Div. II, 2006), the Court of Appeals rejects a defendant’s challenge to his conviction for possessing child pornography in violation of RCW 9.68A.070.  The Court summarizes the appeal and the Court’s ruling as follows:  

Thomas Paul Williams appeals his conviction for possessing depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, in violation of RCW 9.68A.070, while he was a resident at the McNeil Island Special Commitment Center (SCC) [awaiting a hearing to determine if he was a sexually violent predator].  The SCC staff seized his personal computer during his stay at SCC pending trial on the State's petition to declare him a sexually violent predator (SVP).  The staff's discovery of sexually explicit material in a daily planner Williams left in an SCC common area precipitated the search, which revealed a computer file containing a pornographic photograph.  

Williams argues that (1) the trial court erred when it denied his motion to suppress the computer file because it was illegally seized in violation of his privacy rights as an involuntarily civilly committed person and (2) the evidence was insufficient to show that he knew that the illegal photograph was on his computer.  

Because the SCC had adequate reason to believe that Williams' computer contained illegal files, the search did not exceed the purposes of the SCC detention and Williams had adequate notice that his privilege to possess a computer was conditioned on SCC computer searches, so the search did not violate Williams' privacy rights.  Furthermore, the evidence was sufficient to convict him as charged.  We affirm.  

This LED entry will not address the Court of Appeals analysis of the search issue, which is unique to the special environment of the McNeil Island SCC.  

The Williams Court’s analysis of the sufficiency-of-the-evidence issue is as follows:  

Under RCW 9.68A.070, a person who knowingly possesses visual or printed matter depicting a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct is guilty of a class B felony.  Williams argues that the evidence is insufficient to prove that he knew the illegal photograph was stored on his secondary hard drive.  

 . . . 

Here, in a folder next to some music files on Williams' computer's unauthorized secondary hard drive, SCC staff discovered a photograph of a minor female engaged in a sexually explicit act with a male.  An SCC information technology employee determined that the file had been created on November 18, 2004, about one month after a document personal to Williams had been created on the same hard drive.  Although evidence did not reveal when the file had last been accessed and other testimony suggested that prohibited file, software, and hardware sharing is common among SCC residents, we note that the computer was in Williams' room, to which no other resident had access, and we defer to the trier of fact on persuasiveness of the evidence.  Based on the evidence, a reasonable trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams knew that the illegal photograph was stored on his computer.  

[Some text and citations omitted]

Result:  Affirmance of Pierce County Superior Court conviction of Thomas Paul Williams for violation of 9.68A.070.  

(3)
PUBLIC DISCLOSURE ACT (NOW “PUBLIC RECORDS ACT”) DOES NOT REQUIRE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS UNDER THE FACTS OF THE CASE AT HAND TO PROVIDE PERSONNEL RECORD ON EMPLOYEE TO AN INMATE - - In Livingston v. Department Of Corrections, __ Wn. App. __, __ P.3d __ (Div. II, 2006), the Court of Appeals rules 2-1 that the Washington DOC complied with the Public Disclosure Act (PDA), now recodified and known as the Public Records Act, when its public disclosure coordinator mailed a copy of an employee’s personnel record to an inmate requestor’s DOC address, and that DOC was not required under the PDA to ignore its incoming-mail-screening policies, and hence was not required under the PDA to give the records to the inmate.  

Michael Livingston (Livingston) was an inmate at Olympic Corrections Center (OCC) and later at Cedar Creek Corrections Center (CCCC).  While at OCC, Livingston submitted a request to the public disclosure coordinator, seeking disclosure of the training records of a corrections officer. The public disclosure coordinator mailed a copy of the records to Livingston’s DOC address, and the records arrived at the institution where Livingston was then incarcerated, CCCC.  Like all other incoming mail, the records were inspected during CCCC's mail screening process.  After inspecting the records, CCCC withheld the records from Livingston under DOC Policy 450.100 that authorizes the DOC to inspect and read all incoming mail to prevent offenders from receiving material that threatens the security and order of the facility.  

Livingston received a mail-rejection form, explaining that the DOC superintendent did not permit DOC employee records to be released to inmates.  Because the subject of the personnel record was a DOC employee, the superintendent explained that Livingston could not have access to her employment records.

The Court of Appeals holds that DOC's obligations under the PDA were discharged when the coordinator mailed the records to Livingston’s DOC address.  The CCCC's mail room policy, blocking Livingston's access to the records, is not relevant to a request to show cause for nondisclosure under the PDA.

Result:  Affirmance of Thurston County Superior Court decision denying Michael B. Livingston’s motion to show cause.

(4)
TRIAL COURT’S BANISHMENT ORDER HELD TO BE TOO BROAD AND THEREFORE TO VIOLATE CONSTITUTIONAL-RIGHT-TO-TRAVEL PROTECTION – In State v. Schimelpfenig, 128 Wn. App. 224 (Div. II, 2005), the Court of Appeals vacates a trial court’s order prohibiting a first degree murderer from residing in Grays Harbor County for the remainder of his life.  The trial court issued the banishment order to try to protect the mental well-being of the murdered victim’s family.  After discussing out-of-state cases addressing the validity of banishment orders, the Schimelpfenig, Court explains why the Court of Appeals vacates the banishment order in this case as being overbroad:  

These [out-of-state] cases reveal several guiding principles for reviewing banishment orders.  To determine whether a specific geographic restriction permissibly infringes on a defendant's right to travel, a sentencing court should consider the following nonexclusive factors: (1) whether the restriction is related to protecting the safety of the victim or witness of the underlying offense; (2) whether the restriction is punitive and unrelated to rehabilitation; (3) whether the restriction is unduly severe and restrictive because the defendant resides or is employed in the area from which he is banished; (4) whether the defendant may petition the court to temporarily lift the restriction if necessary; and (5) whether less restrictive means are available to satisfy the State's compelling interest.  Consideration of such factors ensures that the use of a geographical restriction will always turn on a careful analysis of the facts, circumstances, and total atmosphere of the case.  

Here, the sentencing court stated that its reason for banning Schimelpfenig for life from residing in Grays Harbor County was to prevent Benner's relatives from being reminded of him.  We contrast this understandable purpose with one aimed at preventing an individual from becoming the victim of threatened crime, which has been found to be a compelling state interest.  It is this protective interest that may also make banishment appropriate when the defendant represents a continuing threat to his victim or witnesses even after release.  But we need not decide whether the interest advanced by the order is compelling, for even if it is, the order is not narrowly tailored to serve that interest.  

Schimelpfenig will likely remain in prison for more than 20 years and will not be released until he is in his 60s.  There is no evidence in the record that Schimelpfenig ever posed a threat to Benner's family or that he has desired continued contact with them when he is released.  There also is no evidence that the Benner family frequents so much of the 1,917 square miles of Grays Harbor County as to justify a countywide ban.  Moreover, the record suggests that Schimelpfenig has some form of mental disability and, as a result of this disability, he has lived with his family in Grays Harbor County for his entire life.  Banning him for life from residing in the county is therefore likely to heavily burden his family and be counterproductive to rehabilitation.  Under these facts, the banishment order fails strict scrutiny.  

In so ruling, we do not imply that countywide or other types of jurisdictional prohibitions will always be inappropriate.  Relying on the well-defined boundaries of a county or city fosters the uniform enforcement of such a restriction.  But the propriety of such restrictions must turn on the facts of each case.  The facts of this case suggest that a more narrowly-tailored restriction would satisfactorily protect the Benner family from being reminded of their loss.  We emphasize that the trial court could, and did, continue to prohibit Schimelpfenig from having contact with the Benner family and require him to stay a specified distance away from their homes or workplaces.  But because the sentencing court's order forbidding Schimelpfenig from residing in Grays Harbor County is too broad for its stated purpose, we vacate it.  

Result:  Vacation of Grays Harbor County Superior Court banishment order against David Ellis Schimelpfenig; in unpublished portions of the Court of Appeals opinion not addressed in this LED entry, the Court of Appeals affirms defendant’s first degree murder conviction, but vacates defendant’s exceptional sentence.  

*********************

INTERNET ACCESS TO COURT RULES & DECISIONS, TO RCW’S, AND TO WAC RULES

The Washington Office of the Administrator for the Courts maintains a website with appellate court information, including recent court opinions by the Court of Appeals and State Supreme Court.  The address is [http://www.courts.wa.gov/].  Decisions issued in the preceding 90 days may be accessed by entering search terms, and decisions issued in the preceding 14 days may be more simply accessed through a separate link clearly designated. A website at [http://legalwa.org/] includes all Washington Court of Appeals opinions, as well as Washington State Supreme Court opinions from 1939 to the present.  The site also includes links to the full text of the RCW, WAC, and many Washington city and county municipal codes (the site is accessible directly at the address above or via a link on the Washington Courts’ website).  Washington Rules of Court (including rules for appellate courts, superior courts, and courts of limited jurisdiction) are accessible via links on the Courts’ website or by going directly to [http://www.courts.wa.gov/court-rules].  

Many United States Supreme Court opinions can be accessed at [http://supct.law.cornell.edu/supct/index.html].  This website contains all U.S. Supreme Court opinions issued since 1990 and many significant opinions of the Court issued before 1990.  Another website for U.S. Supreme Court opinions is the Court’s website at [http://www.supremecourtus.gov/opinions/opinions.html].  Decisions of the Ninth Circuit of the U.S. Court of Appeals since January 2000 can be accessed (by date of decision only) by going to the Ninth Circuit home page at [http://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/] and clicking on “Opinions.”  Opinions from other U.S. circuit courts can be accessed by substituting the circuit number for “9” in this address.  Federal statutes can be accessed at [http://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/].  

Access to relatively current Washington state agency administrative rules (including DOL rules in Title 308 WAC, WSP equipment rules at Title 204 WAC, and State Toxicologist rules at WAC 448-15), as well as all RCW's current through January 2006, is at [http://www1.leg.wa.gov/legislature].  Information about bills filed since 1997 in the Washington Legislature is at the same address.  “Washington State Legislature,” “bill info,” “house bill information/senate bill information,” and use bill numbers to access information.  Access to the “Washington State Register” for the most recent proposed WAC amendments is at this address too.  In addition, a wide range of state government information can be accessed at [http://access.wa.gov].  The address for the Criminal Justice Training Commission's home page is [https://fortress.wa.gov/cjtc/www/led/ledpage.html], while the address for the Attorney General's Office home page is [http://insideago].  

*********************

The Law Enforcement Digest is co-edited by Senior Counsel John Wasberg and Assistant Attorney General Shannon Inglis, both of the Washington Attorney General’s Office.  Questions and comments regarding the content of the LED should be directed to Mr. Wasberg at (206) 464-6039; Fax (206) 587-4290; E Mail [johnw1@atg.wa.gov].  Questions regarding the distribution list or delivery of the LED should be directed to [ledemail@cjtc.state.wa.us].  LED editorial commentary and analysis of statutes and court decisions express the thinking of the writers and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Office of the Attorney General or the CJTC.  The LED is published as a research source only.  The LED does not purport to furnish legal advice.  LEDs from January 1992 forward are available via a link on the CJTC Internet Home Page [https://fortress.wa.gov/cjtc/www/led/ledpage.html]  

January 2007








PAGE  
1
1

